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Bef or e: Judge Koutras
Statement of the Case

This proceedi ng concerns a Notice of Contest filed by the contestant
pursuant to section 105(d) of the Federal M ne Safety and Health Act of 1977,
challenging the legality of a section 104(d)(1) "S&S" citation alleging a
viol ation of mandatory safety standard 30 C.F. R 0O 75.1725(a). A hearing was
held in Morgantown, West Virginia and the parties filed posthearing briefs
which | have considered in the course of ny adjudication of this matter.

| ssues

The issues presented in this case are (1) whether the conditions or
practices cited by the inspector constitute a violation of the cited mandatory
saf ety standard, (2) whether the alleged violation was "Significant and
Substantial" (S&S), and (3) whether the alleged violation was the result of an
unwarrantabl e failure by the contestant to conply with the cited standard.
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Stipu

Applicable Statutory and Regul atory Provisions

1. The Federal M ne Safety and Health Act of 1977; 30
U S.C. 0801 et seq.
2. Commi ssion Rules, 29 C.F.R 0O 2700.1, et seq.
3. Mandatory safety standards 30 C F. R
0 75.1725(a).
| ati ons

The parties stipulated to the following (Tr. 12):

1. The Administrative Law Judge and the Federal M ne Safety and Health
Revi ew Commi ssion have jurisdiction to hear and decide this contest
proceedi ng pursuant to Section 105 of the Federal Mne Safety and Health
Act of 1977.

2. The contestant is the owner and operator of the Blacksville No. 2
M ne.

3. Operations of the Blacksville No. 2 Mne are subject to the
jurisdiction of the Act.

4. The contestant may be considered a | arge nmine operator for purposes
of 30 U.S.C. 0O 820(i).

5.  The maxi mum penalty which could be assessed for this violation
pursuant to 30 U.S.C. O 820(a) will not affect the ability of the
contestant to remain in business.

6. MSHA Inspector Lynn A, Workley was acting in his official capacity
as an authorized representative of the Secretary of Labor when he issued
Citati on No. 3318787.

7. A true copy of Citation No. 3318787 was served on the contestant or
its agent as required by the Act.

8. Citation No. 3318787, marked as Government Exhi bit

No. 1, is authentic and may be adnmitted into evidence for the
pur pose of establishing its issuance and not for the purpose of
establishing the accuracy of any statenments asserted therein

The contestant's counsel would not stipulate to the accuracy of MSHA's

proposed civil penalty assessment "Data Sheet" and MSHA' s conputerized nine

conpl
wer e
(Tr.

i ance history print-out (Exhibits G5 and G 6). However the objections
overrul ed and the docunents were admitted and nade a part of the record
13).
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Di scussi on

Section 104(d)(1) "S&S" Citation No. 3318787, May 5, 1994, cites an
al l eged violation of 30 CCF.R 0O 75.1725(a), and the cited condition or
practice states as foll ows:

The 6 South No. 2 belt conveyor was not being operated in safe
condition. The tailpiece was plugged with fine coal and coa

dust. Several roller sections were mssing and the belt was
riding on the steel roller mounting brackets. Mst of the
remaining roller sections were stuck with fines and worn flat from
belt friction. The side frame and floor adjacent to the tail piece
was covered with thick dry black float coal dust. A cloud of

bl ack fl oat coal dust was present in the air above and behind the
tail piece. The belt was renoved from service i medi ately when
cited.

MSHA' s Testi nony and Evi dence

MSHA | nspector Lynn A. Workley testified as to his experience and
background, including 8 years of work for the contestant at an underground
m ne. He has served as an inspector for 12 years and is a certified mne
foreman and underground el ectrical worker. He confirnmed that he was fanm liar
with the Blacksville No. 2 mine and has inspected it for 10 years
(Tr. 14-16).

M. Workley confirmed that he inspected the mine on May 5, 1994, and was
acconpani ed by Ron Thomas, a conpany escort, and Philip Nine, the mner's
representative. M. Wrkley identified a copy of the citation that he issued
and he expl ai ned what he observed and why he cited a violation of section
75.1725(a), requiring the cited conveyor to be renmoved from service. He
stated that the belt was in operation and he observed "a cl oud
of float coal dust" in the air above and behind the tail piece. He concluded
that the tail piece was clogged with fine coal and coal dust and that the belt
was rubbing coal and generating float dust. He stated that it was difficult
to see inside the tailpiece with the belt running, but that he could see in
fromthe side view and observed that "the area between the top and bottom belt
was packed with fine coal”". He also observed coal dust accumul ations a
quarter of an inch in thickness on the right side of the tail piece facing it
inby (Tr. 16-21).

M. Workley stated that after the hinged tail pi ece side guards were
opened, he observed that the area under the top belt and around the inpact
rollers was conpletely plugged and full of dry coal and coal dust
accurrul ati ons and part of the inmpact rollers were stuck and were "worn
conpletely flat clear down to the shaft”. He stated that a couple of rollers
were m ssing under the tail piece, and believed that only 2 out of 12 roller
sections
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were turning. He also stated that the belt was not aligned on the rollers and
that it was running over to the right side and was contacting the neta
brackets that the missing rollers had been mounted on. Approximately one inch
of the top of two brackets had been worn away by frictional contact with the
movi ng belt (Tr. 21-23).

M. Workley stated that heat was being generated at the area where the
brackets were worn and where the thick float coal dust was on the tail piece
frame and on the floor beside it, and he could feel warm air com ng out of
that side of the tailpiece (Tr. 23). M. Wrkley explained why he believed
that the conditions he observed constituted a violation of section
75.1725(a), as follows at (Tr. 24-25):

A. As | said previously, that standard requires that nobile and
stationary equi pnent be maintained in safe operating condition
This tail piece was not maintained in safe operating condition.
The belt was running. It was in contact with fine coal and coa
dust accunul ations inside the tailpiece. It was also in contact
with metal brackets, producing frictional heat.

Q Was there evidence that any maintenance had taken place on
this belt?

A No.

Q Wy didn't you wite a separate citation under section 75.400
for coal dust accumul ati on?

A. | considered a violation of 75.400 initially, before the
protective hinged sides were turned back and | could see that the
belt was definitely wearing against the netal stand. Then

decided that .1725(a) -- That standard requires that it be
renoved fromservice -- It was adequate just to issue a citation
under that standard. | didn't need to wite both of them in ny
opi ni on.

Q M. Wrkley, how was the violation abated?

A. Al of the conbustible material was cleaned frominside the
tail pi ece, renoved and put on the belt. The brackets that the
belt had been contacting were bent back to prevent further contact
if the belt ran out of alignnment.

Q Wuld the operator have been able to conpletely abate this
violation w thout stopping the belt?

A.  Not safely, no.
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M. Workley confirmed that he designated the violation as significant
and substantial and stated that the cited conditions created a fire hazard in
the mne. He was aware of at |least two belt fires, and he expl ai ned what was
needed for a belt fire to occur as follows at (Tr. 26-27):

A. Three things are necessary for a fire; adequate air, adequate
fuel and an ignition source. There was adequate air in that area,
with twenty-one percent oxygen in it. There was anple anpunt of
dry coal and coal dust inside the tailpiece and on the frane,
beside the tail piece and on the mne floor, and in the air above
and behind the tailpiece. And there was a frictional heat source
fromthe belt rubbing the accunul ations and fromthe belt rubbing
agai nst the nmetal stands where the rollers were mssing. And,
occasionally, at intervals of four hundred feet or less, there are
metal splices that hold the belt together that cone through and
you have nmetal to metal friction against those netal stands that
are being worn.

M. Workley stated that metal to nmetal friction would create
sparks and the float coal dust or dry coal dust, which he described as "dry
and bl ack", could be ignited by the generated heat. He believed it was
reasonably likely that a fire would occur if the belt continued to run wi thout
the cited conditions being corrected. He believed it was reasonably |ikely
for an injury to occur if there was a fire because the heat and snmoke area was
confined and the heat and snoke would |ikely not be carried away, and soneone
there to fight the fire would be injured by snoke inhalation or burns (Tr.

28). He confirmed that two fire detection systens were installed on the No. 2
belt, one in the general tailpiece area, and the other sone distance away.

M. Workley expl ained his high negligence and unwarrantable failure
findings as follows at (Tr. 29-31):

A * * * Looking at the wear | saw to the inpact rollers, it
occurred while coal was being | oaded onto this tail piece and that
had ceased happeni ng nonths before this violation was cited. The
rollers had been worn out for nonths.

The ampunt of coal that had accumul ated inside the tail pi ece had
been there shifts, days, weeks. | can't tell you how |ong for
sure. It took a prolonged period of time for it to accunul ate.

The thickness of the float coal dust on the side of the structure
and on the mne floor indicated that it had been like this for a
| ong period of tine.
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A pool of water behind and under the end of the tail piece which
was black with coal dust, and the presence of a wash down hose,
indicated to ne that float dust had been present previously and
had been washed off of this area repeatedly.

Q \Wien you observed the condition at the six south nunber two
belt, was it obvious that it was in an unsafe condition?

A. Yes, it was.

Q And woul d a reasonably conpetent preshift exam ner have
noticed this condition?

A.  He should have, yes.

Q In your opinion, the condition you just described, did it
exist prior to the previous preshift exanf

A. There is no question in my mind that it did, Yes.

* * * * * * *

Q How long do you believe it took for the brackets to be worn

down?

A. Several days, weeks. They wear slowy. It's a rubber belt.

I think the belt travels sonewhere around three hundred and fifty
feet per minute. It's enough to create a great deal of friction

but a steel bracket a quarter to three-eights of an inch thick
wears rather slowy, so this took a long period of tine.

Q You described coal dust accunul ations inside the tail piece.
How | ong do you think it took for that accurmulation to build up?

A, \Weeks.

M. Workley stated that as he approached the tail piece area to better
eval uate the problem safety escort Thomas picked up a washdown hose and
started washing the left side of the tailpiece and the floor. \When he
informed M. Thomas that he was issuing a citation, M. Thomas becane excited
and left the area. Wen he returned he washed down the other side of the
tail piece after the belt was shut down and stated "I want to apol ogize to you
for yelling. | didn't realize it was this bad" (Tr. 32). Several nne
officials then appeared at the scene, and one referred to the condition of the
tail pi ece and conmented that "he did not want this kind of junk -- only he
used stronger |anguage -- in his mne" (Tr. 34).
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M. Workley expl ained why the belt was not aligned and why he believed
that the worn inpact roller conditions took place over nmultiple shifts and
that no mai ntenance had been done for a long tinme. He also explained why he
beli eved the float coal dust had accunul ated over a period of nultiple shifts
(Tr. 35-37), and stated as follows at (Tr. 38):

A. 1'mnot positive, but based on twenty years of experience as a
m ner and as an inspector, what | sawin the air, the anmount of
float dust that was in the air current there, it would have taken
a long period of time for that thickness of float dust to settle
on that structure and on the wal kway beside it.

On cross-exam nation, M. Wrkley confirmed that his belief that the
belt rollers had been dunping while coal was being dunped on the tail pi ece was
an inference on his part and that he had no other explanation for the roller
wear that had occurred. He also confirmed that a belt alignment problem can
be unexpected and occur at any tinme while the belt is in operation. If this
occurs, coal spillage can be expected and it can get caught up in the bottom
belt. Although the coal on the belt is normally wet to danp, the coal he
observed around the inpact rollers and plugging the tail piece was fine and
extremely dry, and the float coal dust was black and suspended in the air (Tr.
39-42).

M. Workley confirmed that he had not previously inspected the six south
tail pi ece and that he had no way of know ng
how long it took for the float coal dust to be generated
(Tr. 39, 43). He patted the accumul ations on the belt frame and floor and it
di spersed into a black cloud in the air. The float coal was "finely ground,
t he consi stency of face powder", and he collected no sanples (Tr. 44).

M. Wrkley stated that he did not speak to the fire boss about his
exam nation, but he did speak to others in m ne management who told himthat
no foreman had cone to | ook at the six south tailpiece after the fire that
occurred on sixth north (Tr. 45).

M. Workley stated that he found no problemwth the tail roller on the
cited tail piece and detected no hot rollers or snmell of conmbustion. He
confirmed that it was possible that warmair would be generated froma
continuously running piece of equipnent. He confirned that operating a
tail piece with mssing inpact rollers is not a violation as long as the belt
is not contacting the frame. He confirnmed that he observed the belt
contacting the frane, and when the belt was not running "it was resting on
portions of the frane when it stopped and portions of the frane were worn away
by friction of the belt rubbing it"

(Tr. 49).
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M. Workley believed that the fire boss should have observed the cl oud
of float coal dust generated in the air above and behind the tail pi ece and
shoul d have | ooked inside to determ ne what was generating the dust (Tr. 51).
He did not know when the |ast preshift was conducted prior to his inspection,
but indicated that at a mninum it would have been close to four hours. He
conceded that he was speculating that the fire boss encountered the sane
conditions that he observed, and confirmed that he did not issue a violation
for an i nproper preshift exami nation (Tr. 52-54).

M. Workley stated that the two m ssing rollers were rubber inpact
rollers, and that no netal rollers away fromthe tail piece were m ssing, and
he expl ai ned the worn bracket conditions that he observed (Tr. 55-58).

In response to further questions, M. Wrkley stated that "judgi ng by
the wear on those two brackets" he concluded that the belt had been out of
alignnment for "several shifts" (Tr. 58). He described the condition of the
brackets as "worn down approximtely one inch at the top and they were both
bri ght and shiny" and he believed it took "shifts weeks" for this to occur
(Tr. 59). He believed it unlikely that the coal dust accumnul ati ons he
observed occurred over a short period of tine because he found float coal dust
"a quarter to nmore than a quarter of an inch thick" deposited adjacent to the
tail piece belt and he has inspected belt lines that had not been dragged or
rock dusted for several shifts and found little or no accumul ati ons of fl oat
coal dust (Tr. 59).

M. Workley stated that the float coal dust was washed down to term nate
the citation and the cl ogged coal fines were renoved with a bar, roof bolts,
or a pointed instrument (Tr. 60). He explained that no coal had been
transported over the tailpiece in question for three or five nonths before his
i nspection when it was operated as part of a working section. The tailpiece
belt was running during his inspection because it was a continuation of the
"nmot her belt", and it perforned no useful function. However, the nother belt
woul d not operate if the tailpiece were shut down (Tr. 62).

M. Workley confirmed that he reviewed the prior fire boss preshift and
onshift reports and saw no indication of the cited conditions. The tail piece
area was part of the normal fire boss run and he saw no exam nation entries
mentioni ng the brackets, the belt out of alignment, or the presence of any
float coal dust (Tr. 63). He did not speak with the fire boss who worked the
m dni ght shift and who was not present when the citation was issued (Tr. 64).
He expl ai ned his concerns as follows at (Tr. 64-65):

Q So missing rollers, per se, is not a violation.
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A No, sir, it's not.
Q And the belt running out of alignment is not a
vi ol ati on.
A No, your honor, it's not.
Q | guess the bottomline is that it was in general disrepair

in that these two brackets were touching and caused the belt to
run out of alignment, caused sone friction. And there was fl oat
coal dust there and you were concerned it was a fire hazard. |Is
that it?

A. Yes, your honor

Robert P. Nine, testified that he has worked for the contestant for 21
years, and that he currently works as a bl ock nason. He confirned that he
acconpanied M. Wrkley as the mner's representative during his inspection on
May 5, 1994, at the tailpiece. He confirmed that he observed "heavy" fl oat
coal dust accumul ations on the belt structure and tail piece and estimated that
it was "under a half inch, or quarter inch" thick. He estimated that it would
take "two to three days, maybe" for the coal dust to accunulate. He |ooked
into the side of the tail piece and observed a roller that was worn flat with
fine coal dust and pieces of coal or fines around it where it had frozen the
roller. The belt was running, but the frozen roller was not turning (Tr. 66-
69). He further described his observations as follows at (Tr. 70-71):

Q Were the side guards ever renpved so you could get a better
| ook inside the tail piece?

A. Yes. The beltman cane |ater and the belt was shut off. And
they pulled the skirts or the guard. The top of it cone up and
fell back.

Q What did you see?

A. It was a ness. Rollers wore down, froze; accumrmul ation of coa
in the tail piece.

Q Can you estimate how long it would have taken for the coal to
accunul ate inside the tailpiece in the manner that you saw it?

A. | would say weeks.

Q Did you see the belt rubbing on the steel bracket or on two
steel brackets?
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A.  Yeah. That was on the other side of the belt. There wasn't
any roller there. There was a bracket, and you could see where the
belt had rubbed into the bracket.

* * * * * * *
A.  Yeah, it was worn down. It was worn down past where the other
belt -- | don't know how far. It was shorter than the others by

an inch or so.

Q Do you have an estimate as to how | ong that took?

A, On that, | don't know. | would say a day, couple days. |
don't know how long it would take a belt to go through steel I|ike
that. | would say a day or two, maybe a week

M. N ne stated that M. Thomas was initially angry with
M. Workley for issuing the citation but |later apol ogized to himafter | ooking
at the tailpiece. He stated that M. Thomas said it was bad but "didn't think
it was that bad till he looked in it" (Tr. 72). He also confirned that there
have been three or four belt fires at the nmine during the past year

On cross-exam nation, M. Nine estimated that he had visited the cited
tailpiece five to ten times prior to M. Workley's inspection. He confirned
that someone woul d be assigned to clean up coal accunul ati ons and take care of
probl enms on belt lines as they occurred. He confirnmed that he did not know
how | ong the belt was running off to one side of the tail piece, and since the
tail piece is enclosed, one could not see that it running off of the brackets
unl ess the encl osure was opened up. He confirmed that a casual observer could
not see the belt running off unless they opened up the hinged guards and
| ooked under the cover
(Tr. 77-78).

Ray L. Ash, MSHA | nspector Supervisor, testified that he has 46 years of
m ni ng experience, 21 of which was in private industry as a mne
superintendent, section boss, and nmine foreman. He confirmed that he was with
M. Workley during his inspection of May 5, 1994, and that he was there to
conduct a quality control review and evaluation as to how i nspections are
conducted (Tr. 79-82).

M. Ash stated that he personally observed the conditions cited by M.
Wor kl ey and he described themas follows at
(Tr. 84-86):

A. We canme off of the -- | believe it was the five-s belt. W
came down it. Five-s belt, fromone end to the other, is severa
hundred, maybe a thousand feet
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I ong, a very good |looking belt, very well nmintained, everything
i n good shape, you know.

We came down to the corner there and | | ooked around the corner

I couldn't believe the contrast of what | saw up this little -- Up
the entry where this tail piece was setting, the contrast to the
rest of the belt line. You know, it just indicated there was | ot
of trouble there from somewhere. | don't know where. But
somet hi ng was bad wrong.

Q Wiy do you say that?

A, Well nost of the rock dust had been washed off the ribs, float
dust in the air. | could see float dust on part of the structures
and thing up three, that had settled, and just -- |'ve been to
many of them And when you see that, you know, you've got
troubl e, when you see it |look like that.

* * * * * * *
A. Wen | saw it up there, | stepped back and | |et
M. Wrkley go first, because |I knew there was trouble. Then
wal ked al ong after he went up in there. And | saw -- tried to see

in the tail piece.

There wasn't too many places you could see in. | couldn't see any
rollers in there as it's been testified to before. Everywhere

| ooked in there, it was packed with sone kind of coal. Some of it
was caked hard. Sone of it was loose. | just couldn't see

anything in there that mnuch.

| could see a lot of float dust collected on the ribs and sone
float dust in the air. | could see it in the beamof ny light.

Q Wien the side guard was lifted, afterward, what did you see
t hen?

A | walked -- After the side guards were |lifted, which was a
good while later, | wal ked back up far enough to | ook, just to
look in there. The reason | didn't go clear to the end, there
nmust have been eight or ten people in this little confined place,
trying to work and do things. So | tried to stay out of the way
as much as | coul d.

But | did see the brackets. | wasn't close enough to tell how
much they were wore down, a quarter inch, a half inch, inch, or
what. But the brackets did show
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signs they had been worn on. And the rollers and the other stuff
was just a ness in there. Everything had been bound up with coal

M. Ash believed that the danger of fire was very real, and based on his
experience, he was of the opinion that it was highly likely that a belt fire
woul d have occurred of the belt continued to run without correcting the cited
conditions. He agreed with M. Workley's finding that an injury was
reasonably likely to occur to people fighting the fire. He also believed that
nmet hane, which is released freely in the mne, could be present in the area,
adding to the hazard (Tr. 87).

M. Ash expressed his "one hundred percent" agreenent with M. Workley's
hi gh negligence and unwarrantable failure findings and he believed that the
accumul ati ons occurred over a long period of tinme. He saw no evidence of any
coal spillage along the belt live and did not believe that the accunul ati ons
had occurred recently. He also believed that it took a long tine for the worn
bracket condition to occur and he stated that this would be a very slow
process taking place over "several nonths". Based on his experience, he
believed that a reasonably conpetent preshift exam ner woul d have noticed the
fl oat coal accumrulations in question. He confirnmed that an exam ner woul d not
be able to see the belt rubbing on the steel bracket while waking by the belt.
However, he believed that a conmpetent exam ner would have | ooked for the
source of the float coal dust and reported it to his foreman (Tr. 88-91). M.
Ash denied that he ever comented to M. Thomas that the conditions he
observed "was not that bad" and he heard no comrents from M. Thomas about the
condition of the tailpiece (Tr. 94).

On cross-exam nation, M. Ash stated that he was inpressed with
management's quick reaction to the citation (Tr. 96). He confirmed that no
one woul d open the tail piece covers unless the belt were shut off and that it
was difficult to open the covers "because it was hinged and I think it hadn't
been opened for so long" (Tr. 97). He believed that the worn bracket
condition woul d have occurred fromthe belt running off center on nore than
one occasion (Tr. 98-100). He had no reason to believe that the belt fire
detection or fire suppression systems were not functioning and he found
not hing wong with them (Tr. 100).

M. Ash believed that the preshift exam ner should have observed the
absence of rock dust, and the presence of float dust in the area and on the
ribs, and this should have alerted himto ook in the tail piece. He confirmed
that the floor around the tail piece "was wet, sloppy, nmuddy". Although it was
possible that the float dust in the air was not there when the preshift was
conducted he believed that this possibility is "very, very |low', and that at
| east part, if not all, of the conditions were present (Tr. 102).
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M. Ash confirmed that he found no methane problem at the tail piece
area, and no hot rollers or electrical problenms. He found no problems on any
of the other belts in the area. He confirmed that the problemwas confined to
the cited tail piece area 45-feet fromthe transfer point and stated that "it
| ooked |i ke another world" (Tr. 105).

In response to further questions, M. Ash stated that the friction
between the belt, the brackets, the frozen rollers, and the belt rubbing the
coal in the tailpiece were all sources of ignition (Tr. 106). He stated that
some of the coal he observed near the brackets was dry, indicating that heat
was being generated, while the coal in other areas was danp (Tr. 107).

M. Ash stated that the float coal dust and packed coal conditions were
observable fromthe side of the tail piece but that the brackets underneath
were not readily observable until the belt was shut down and the covers were
opened up (Tr. 114). He sumuarized his agreenent with the unwarrantable
failure finding by M. Wrkley as follows at (Tr. 116):

[SJo I guess the nuts and bolts of this citation is the fact that
you found float coal dust accunulated on the belts. You came to
the conclusion it had been there for a while. And after you
opened the hinges, you found all these other conditions. You
found, like you said, it was a marked contrast between anot her
part of the mine. And you agreed it was unwarrantabl e, because
the m ne managenent shoul d have been alerted to that or at |east
the fire boss should have been alerted to it and gone one step
further than what he did.

A.  Yes, Sir

O what you believe he did or didn't do. |Is that correct?
Yes, sir.

So that is the aggravated conduct.

Yes.

That supports the unwarrantabl e.

> 0 > O » O

Yes
The Contestant's Testinony and Evi dence
John Straface, mne superintendent, testified that he holds a 1987

degree in nmining engineering fromWst Virginia university, and has been
enpl oyed by the contestant since that
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time. Referring to a mine map, he stated that the cited tail piece was a
couple of mles away fromthe fire that occurred on the six north belt (Tr.
121). He explained the direction of the airflow over the tail piece area and
confirmed that there was a stopping 12 to 15 feet behind the tail piece and
that there was a dead end down the entry. The stopping was 12 to 15 feet from
the tailpiece. He confirnmed that fire sensors and suppression systens were
installed in the area, including a water punp, bags of rock dust, and a fire
extingui sher (Tr. 117-127). He also explained how the inmpact rollers

functi oned and how they are distinguished fromthe nmetal rollers found al ong
the beltline. He confirmed that there are six simlar tailpieces in operation
in the m ne and he has experienced no significant problems with them (Tr. 131-
133).

M. Straface explained how the tail pieces are serviced
and nmi ntai ned, and he believed that adequate exam nations are nmade and he
could recall no prior citations for a violation of section 75.1725(a) (Tr.
134).

M. Straface explained the duties of a fire boss, and he stated that any
hazardous conditions found by the exam ner are taken care of immediately. He
stated that hot inpact rollers
are not common and that he has never observed or known of any
such rollers getting hot (Tr. 135). He exam ned and expl ai ned severa
preshi ft exam nation reports covering the area cited by M. Workley (Tr. 136-
139).

M. Straface stated that he arrived at the cited tail piece area fifteen
m nutes or one half an hour after the belt was shut down. He described the
area as danp and wet, and stated that the ribs were noist and adequately rock
dusted. He observed no cloud of float coal dust and confirned that sone work
had al ready been done in the areas and the belt was not running. He also
confirmed that he did not observe the conditions observed by M. Workley with
the belt running. He did not consider the tailpiece to be in an unsafe
operating condition (Tr. 140-143).

M. Straface stated that he observed wet nmuck nmaterial that had built up
around sone of the inpact rollers and some wet buildup on part of the belt
structure. The tail roller and belt rollers "were running free" and he did
not consider nmissing inpact rollers to be an unsafe condition. He did not
believe that the inpact roller bracket was causing a problem He stated that
"there were inpact rollers that were not turning" and that they were "frozen"
(Tr. 144). However, he did not consider this condition to be necessarily a
hazard (Tr. 145).

M. Straface confirned that a belt fire had occurred at approxi mately
1:00 a.m on the six north belt on May 5, 1994, the shift before M. Wrkley's
i nspection of the sixth south tailpiece. He explained that a tail roller
simlar to the cited
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one had failed and the hot bearing was agai nst a piece of the rubber belt
conveyor that had lodged in the area and it caused sone snol dering of the belt
line. The foreman at the scene had to cool it off with a fire extinguisher
and water, and as a result of this incident, crews were dispatched to exam ne
the other mne tail pieces (Tr. 146-148).

M. Straface confirned that the cited tail piece was checked for any
problemsimlar to the one that caused the fire on the earlier shift but that
the tail pi ece guards were not opened to exanine the area under the guards (Tr.
149). He reiterated that he did not observe the conditions observed by M.
Workl ey before the citation was issued shutting down the belt (Tr. 153).

On cross-exam nation, M. Straface stated that sone anobunt of float coa
dust is unavoidable on belts, but it is a hazard and should be recorded in the
preshift report. However, he explained that the forenmen are instructed to
correct float coal dust conditions inmmediately, and if this is done, the
condition is not reported during the preshift, but it should be recorded on
the on-shift side of the exami nation book (Tr. 158-159). He agreed that sone
of the wet and "sl oppy" conditions be observed at the tail pi ece could have
occurred by washing off the tailpiece to take care of accumul ati ons of
spillage and float coal dust (Tr. 160).

M. Straface stated that it would take nore than a shift, and possibly
nore than a day, for the inpact rollers to be worn down to the shaft. He could
not recall that any nmetal was showing on the worn rollers and stated that
"they were worn to a flat place" (Tr. 162). He further stated that no coa
was being dunped on the cited tail piece and the section ceased developing in
Decenber, 1992. The tail piece was used at that tinme as a section tail piece
when it was in production (Tr. 162). He stated that the tailpiece is exam ned
regularly no nore than every 2 weeks, and usually every week. He did not
believe that a flat inpact roller necessarily demands i mredi ate mai ntenance,
and he stated that the belt line was not in operation for 5 or 6 nonths during
a strike (Tr. 163).

In response to further questions, M. Straface stated as follows at (Tr.
167-170):

Q Do you think all these conditions that inspector Wrkley
descri bed on the face of this citation could have occurred within

a week; struck rollers, bent bracket, all the stuff that the found
in there? That could have happened between inspections?

A. Al of those conditions?

Q  Yes.
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A. It probably -- It probably could have grown in nmagnitude.
Q \What?
A. It probably could have grown in nmagnitude. All of those

conditions that he noted would not have required the belt to be
shut down to repair themon their own.

* * * * * * *
Q Human nature being what it is -- this tail roller is kind of
isolated. It hasn't ben used on a regular basis. It is altogether

possi bl e that sonebody just forgot to look at this thing, open it
up and look at it?

A. I'msure that is possible.

JUDGE KOUTRAS: Nobody is going to adnit that to you, are they?
You're the mne superintendent. That is true, isn't it? Nobody
is going to admit that to you, are they?

A.  (No Response.)

Ray Campbell|l testified that he has an associate degree in mning from
Bel nont Technical Coll ege, and has worked in the mnes since 1977. He has
wor ked for the contestant since 1984, as a section foreman and fire boss, and
"sonetines, whenever they need me to fill in, | do preshift exam nations" (Tr
173). He confirmed that he was faniliar with the violation in this case and
he stated that he conducted the preshift exam nation on the May 5, 1994,
m dni ght shift. He stated that he | ooks for float dust, spillage, bad
rollers, roof and rib conditions, and nmethane (Tr. 174).

M. Canpbell stated that he was at the cited tail piece on two occasions
during the May 5, mdnight shift, and he went there the second tine after an
al arm sounded on the six north tail pi ece because of a hot bearing. He found
no unusual conditions or circunstances at the cited tail pi ece when he arrived
there at 1:30 a.m He stated that he | ooked around the tail piece, checked the
pillar block bearings, and found nothing unusual other then sone water and
sl op which he punped out. He found no accunul ations of float dust on the
tail piece but did not pull the covers off to |ook inside because " | seen
not hi ng out of the ordinary, | didn't feel it was necessary, and you cannot do
that with the belt running"” (Tr. 176).

M. Canmpbell|l stated that he considered hot rollers, coal spillage, the
belt or roller rubbing in coal spillage, and fl oat
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dust to be hazardous conditions. He stated that he observed no evi dence of
the belt running in coal around the tail piece, and saw no damage to the edge
of the belt or the belt running out of train or off to one side at the
tailpiece (Tr. 178). He returned to the tailpiece area at 6:00 a.m to
preshift it and it took him5 to 10 mnutes to do this. He checked for fl oat
dust, spillage, nethane, and roof or rib conditions. He saw no float dust in
the air, saw no quarter inch accunulations on the tail piece structure and
observed nothing that would have led himto pull the tail piece covers open and
| ook inside. The exami nation of the tailpiece interior is not a normal part
of his exam nation and this job is assigned to the belt foreman. He stated

t hat he woul d have taken care of any hazardous conditions if he had found any
(Tr. 179-181).

M. Canmpbell stated that he would | ook at both sides of the tail piece
during his exam nation and could not recall ever having to use the washdown
hose to wash float dust off the tailpiece. He described the area on the day
he was there as "very wet and nuddy", and the only explanation he had for any
fl oat dust observed by the inspectors was that someone turned the belt water
off. He stated that the coal dust would cone off the other belt lines, and
believed it was possible that spillage and muck caught in the bottom belt may
have been the source of the coal dust
(Tr. 183-186).

M. Canmpbell stated that he | ooks for ignition sources such as bad
rollers, sparks, or signs of conbustion, but observed none of these during his
exam nation, and he snelled nothing unusua
(Tr. 188). He explained the absence of any float dust entries on his preshift
reports and stated that "we do whatever is necessary to take care of the
situation"” and that this is standard m ne procedure (Tr. 189).

On cross-exam nation, M. Canpbell stated that he coul d exani ne the
tail piece tail roller bearings by looking at them from each side, and he had
no reason to believe there were any bad or missing rollers inside the
tail pi ece and had no reason to |look inside (Tr. 191). He stated that there is
no reason to record a hazardous condition that is taken care of during the
preshi ft exam nati on because "its no longer a violation or hazardous
condition" and "you have already cleared it" (Tr. 193). It is, however, noted
on the on-shift book that the condition was there and that it was taken care
of. Any float coal conditions detected are taken care of inmediately (Tr.
197).

Don Chernok, belt foreman, stated that he has worked for the contestant
for 22 years and holds fire boss and foreman's papers. He is responsible for
the large rollers and bearings at the back of the tail piece, the guarding and
skirting, and the inside rollers. He stated that he exam nes the tail pieces
"as often as
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| can. | try to get themonce a week. Sonetines it's a little nore than a
week that | finally get around to all of them

"(Tr. 209). He examines for conditions that cannot be detected when the belts
are running and he opens the tailpiece lids to |ook inside (Tr. 209).

M. Chernok stated that a flat or frozen roller does not render a
tail pi ece unsafe to operate and it sinply indicates that "there is a potentia
of maintenance for nme, sonmething that | do need to nake corrections on as tine
warrants" (Tr. 210). He does not consider a missing inpact roller to be an
unsafe operating condition, and he renoves |unped coal around a roller to
avoid any damage. Fine coal around rollers, and accunul ati ons of nuddy
materials are hosed out. He could not recall any float coal dust situations
at the cited tailpiece (Tr. 212).

M. Chernok could not recall the exact day he exam ned the tail piece
prior to May 5, and stated that "it never goes nore than a week and a half
that | don't see every tailpiece" and that he never fails to exanine the
tail piece in question (Tr. 212).

On cross-exam nation, M. Chernok stated that he does not routinely stop
the belt during his exam nations of the tail piece unless he observes sonething
out of the ordinary. He does not keep mai ntenance records for the tail piece.
He stated that he checks the tailpiece "at | east every other week, naybe not
weekly. And | do try to exam ne weekly" (Tr. 215). He explained how the
cited conditions could have occurred at the tail piece since his |ast
exam nation, and he stated that no belt problens, such as tears, worn edges,
or abrasions, ever canme to his attention at any tinme when the citation was
i ssued (Tr. 220).

In response to further questions, M. Chernok stated that he considers
rollers turning in fine, black, dry float coal dust to be an unsafe condition
because of the possibility of heat and combustion. He also believed that a
belt riding on, and rubbing the brackets, could generate heat. He confirmed
that the conditions found by the inspectors could have occurred a week or a
week and a half prior to his last inspection (Tr. 222).

M. Chernok stated that he arrived at the tail piece no nore than 30
m nutes after the citation was i ssued and that he was in no position to
observe the float coal that the inspector testified about (Tr. 226).

Ronal d E. Thonmas, safety inspector, testified that he has 24 years of
m ni ng experience as a section foreman and safety escort, all at the
Bl acksville No. 2 mine (Tr. 227). He confirned that he acconpani ed | nspectors
Workl ey and Ash during the May 5, 1994, inspection, and he identified copies
of his inspection notes (Exhibit C6; Tr. 229). M. Thomas stated that he
arrived at the tail pi ece ahead of the inspectors and saw no
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cloud of float coal dust. He did see sonme float dust which consisted of sone
dust generated off the belt [ine that had been deposited on the frame of the
tail piece. He stated that he began to wash the material off "because
sometines | get into trouble violations wise of sonmebody calling a float dust
violation, and | just try to handle it. It was just a very |light dusting from
deposits fromthe belt line" (Tr. 232).

M. Thomas di sagreed that there was a violation of section 75.1725(a),
and he was of the opinion that there was no hazard. He described the dust as
wet and danp, and stated that it had been rock dusted and that he tried to use
a sunmp punp to remove the water out of the area, but it wouldn't work. The
dust suppression sprays on the belt were operating and the belt was danp (Tr.
234). After the belt was shut down, the tail piece covers were opened and "we
seen that we needed some areas cleaned inside there" and he described the
material as "belting, scrapes fromold belt, |ooked |ike rope or string, nud,
muck, sonme dried rmud and rmuck" and he believed that it was material knocked
down inside when he hosed off the tailpiece (Tr. 236).

M. Thomas stated that when he initially observed the tail pi ece he saw
no condition that woul d have caused himto open the covers and | ook inside and
he saw no evidence that the belt was being cut by any part of the structure
(Tr. 236). He described the material he saw around the inpact rollers and
belt structure as "nuck, danmp water that has dried out and then redanpened
again and dried out, and just water", and he saw no fine coal dust or float
coal dust (Tr. 237). He believed there was sufficient rock dust in the area,
and that the ribs were danp or wet (Tr. 238).

M. Thomas stated that when the citation was abated, the m ssing and
flat rollers were not required to be replaced, and all of the rollers that
were frozen were not free to turn and four of themwere still frozen. The
bare nmetal piece was bent back so that it did not touch the belt and the
tail pi ece was hosed down and "we continued to run after we cleaned it out a
little bit nore" (Tr. 238).

On cross-exam nation, M. Thomas stated that he initially picked up the
wat er hose because he thought that I|Inspector Wrkley was going to i ssue a
section 75.400 float dust citation. M. Thomas confirmed that float dust was
on the tailpiece frane, and he stated that "I'mnot calling it float dust"”
(Tr. 241). He stated that he did nake the statenent "I didn't realize the
condition was that bad" after the tail piece |ids were opened (Tr. 242). He
stated that three or four people, including himself, worked to abate the
citation, and that it took approxi mately one-half hour
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M. Thomas stated that after he was informed that a section 75.1725(a),
citation was issued, he left the area to tell his supervisors that the belt
needed to be shut down. When he returned, |nspector Wrkley informed them
that he was going to issue a section 104(d)(1) citation because of the fire at
the nunber six north belt. He stated that he told M. Workley that the cited
area had been preshifted and that no hazard was observed by the m dni ght
preshi ft exam ner (Tr. 245).

I nspector Workley was called in rebuttal by MSHA, and he stated that he
decided to cite a violation of section 75.1725(a), after walking to the back
and right side of the tail piece and observing how nuch float coal dust was
there. He infornmed M. Thomas that he was citing a violation of section
75.1725(a), and that he was required to renove the tail piece fromservice
i mredi ately (Tr. 246). M. Wrkley stated that after M. Thomas left the area
he informed the mner's representative Philip Nine that he was considering
i ssuing a section 104(d)(1) citation became of the conditions he found. M.
Ni ne then infornmed himabout the fire at the six north belt on the previous
shift, and M. Workley believed that this added to the operator's negligence
and that the violation was unwarrantable (Tr. 247-248). He further explained
hi s opi nion that the dust he observed was not recent spillage as follows at
(Tr. 248-249):

A. In order for spillage to occur and cause the float dust
condition at the tail piece, the spillage would have to occur at
the five-s or four-s transfer. And if the coal fell fromthere,
onto the bottom belt, and was carried back to the two south -- or
six south number two tail piece, the scraper would have knocked a
ot of the spillage off onto the mne floor and there would have
been spillage all over the place at the tail piece. There was
none.

Al so, there would have been an entry in the preshift exam nation
book fromthe shift before or two shifts before or three shift
before, noting the spillage and the action taken to clean it up

Q The belt foreman testified that he exam nes the belt

approxi mately once a week, every seven to eight days. Is it
possible this condition could have occurred over a one-week
peri od?

A. Parts of the condition nay have occurred over | ess than a one
week period, but part of the condition, as | described previously,
occurred over nmonths. The wear of the inpact rollers did not
occur in the |last week or two before the violation was cited.
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On cross-exam nation, M. Wrkley confirmed that he did not require the
repl acenent of the worn inpact rollers as part of the abatenent. He stated
that it was possible that a bad roller w per could have pulled the material up
into the tailpiece (Tr. 250).

M. Workley further explained the effect of the prior fire on his
unwarrantable failure finding as follows at (Tr. 251-253):

Q Wiy would the fire on this other tail piece cause you to decide
to issue a (d)(1)?

A.  Your honor, a reasonably prudent person, if you were
responsi ble for the operation of a coal nmne and you have two

nmot her belt tail pieces and you have an energency, a fire, occur on
one of them wouldn't a reasonably prudent person send sonmebody or
even go himself to the other one to make sure that the sanme
condition didn't exist there, imediately or as soon as possible?

Q It's ny understanding that is what they did. There was
testimony here that the fire on the six north belt was caused by
some defective bearing or something in the main tail roller. As a
result of that, the preshift exam ner went and checked the

tail piece that you cited and checked the bearings on the tai

roller visually. Wre you aware of that?

A. One one ever offered that information to ne, your honor. And
I did question people if that had happen

Q Had you had that information available to you, would you stil
have issued the (d)(1) order -- | nean, citation?

A. Gven the other conditions, your honor, I'mnot positive, but
probably not.

* * * * * * *

Q M. Wrkley, to your know edge, was the situation on the six
north belt a reportable incident?

A. You nmean did it require reporting under federal guidelines?
No, it didn't.

* * * * * * *

Q You said you mght not have issued a (d)(1) citation if you
had known that the operator had sent someone to check the six
south tailpiece. 1Is that correct?
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A. That is correct.

Q Wuld it make a difference, in your opinion, if you knew that
the only thing that the, | believe it was a fire boss checked,
when he went to exam ne the six south tail piece was the bearing on
the back tail roller. He didn't check the rest of the tail piece.
He only exam ned that part.

A. No. Then it wouldn't have changed ny opinion.
Fi ndi ngs and Concl usi ons
Fact of Violation

The contestant is charged with a violation of mandatory safety standard
30 CF.R 0O 75.1725(a), which provides as follows: "(a) Mobile and stationary
machi nery and equi pnent shall be maintained in safe operating condition and
machi nery or equi prrent in unsafe condition shall be renmoved from service
i medi ately."

I nspector Workley based his citation for a violation of section
75.1725(a), on several factors, which taken as a whole, led himto concl ude
that the cited conveyor belt tail piece was not maintained in a safe operating
condition. M. Wirkley testified credibly that he observed fl oat coal dust
accurul ations on the tail piece franme, belt rollers that were plugged with dry
coal dust, partially stuck rollers, rollers inpacted with coal dust that were
not turning, and a portion of the belt that was running to one side and
rubbi ng or contacting some worn nmetal roller brackets and generating
frictional heat. M. Wrkley believed that these conditions presented a belt
fire hazard and rendered the cited tail piece unsafe for continued operation

Supervisory Inspector Ash, who was with M. Wrkley, personally
observed the conditions cited by M. Wrkley and he testified credibly that he
observed fl oat coal dust in the air and the worn brackets. M. Ash saw the
worn brackets after the tailpiece |lids were opened, and he described the
conditions as "just a ness" and that "everything had been bound up with the
coal" M. Ash agreed with M. Wirkley that the cited conditions presented a
fire hazard.

M ner's representative Nine, who was al so present during the inspection
and who has worked for the contestant for 21 years, also testified credibly
that he observed float coal dust accunul ations on the tail piece and belt
structure, and a frozen roller that was not turning and inpacted with coal and
coal fines. M. N ne also observed the conditions inside the tailpiece after
the lids were opened, and he saw that the belt had rubbed the netal roller
bracket and worn it down, coa
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accunmul ations, and a frozen roller. M. N ne also heard M. Thonmas' comrent
that he (Thomas) did not believe the conditions were "that bad" until he

| ooked inside the tail piece.

M ne superintendent Straface, who arrived at the tail piece area 15 to 30
m nutes after the belt was shut down, and after sonme abatement work had been
done, did not observe the cited conditions as they existed and were observed
by Inspector Workley at the tine he issued the citation. Under the
circunstances, | have given little weight to M. Straface's opinion that the
tail piece was not in an unsafe operating condition because the area was wet,
there was no float coal dust present, and the tail and belt rollers "were
running free" of coal. It seens obvious to ne that by the time M. Straface
arrived at the scene, corrective action had been initiated to wash down the
area and to free the belt rollers of inpacted coal, and to bend back the
rubbi ng brackets.

Belt foreman Chernok also arrived at the tailpiece 30 minutes after the
citation was issued and after the abatenent was well on its way, and he did
not view the conditions that pronpted M. Workley to issue the citation. Even
t hough he did not view the conditions as observed by M. Wrkley, M. Chernok
agreed that belt rollers turning in fine, black, dry float coal dust was an
unsafe condition because of the possibility of heat and conbustion, and that a
belt riding on, and rubbing a bracket could generate heat.

Al t hough safety escort Thomas testified that he arrived at the tail piece
ahead of Inspector Workley and Ash and saw no "cloud" of float coal dust, he
confirmed that he observed float coal dust deposited on the tail piece frane.
He admitted that he inmedi ately began washing down this material because he
did not want to get into trouble with any float coal dust violations, and that
after the tail piece guarding |lids were opened up exposing the inside area of
the tail piece he stated to Inspector Wirkley that he did not realize that the
condition of the cited tailpiece "was that bad." M. Thomas al so agreed that
after the lids were opened the areas inside the tail pi ece needed cl eani ng.

Al t hough M. Thomas believed that the coal dust he observed was rockdusted and
light in color and was not float coal dust, | find the testinony of |nspector
Wor kl ey, | nspector Ash, and mners'

representative Nine to the contrary to be nore credible.

Preshift exam ner Canpbell testified that when he | ast inspected the
tail piece area at 6:00 a.m on May 5, he found "no unusual" conditions,
observed no float coal dust accumul ations, and found no evidence of the belt
running in coal or out of train. However, M. Canpbell did not inspect the
i nside of the tail piece where the inspectors found the cited conditions
because it was not his job. Under the circunstances, | have given little
wei ght to M. Campbell's testinmony and find that it does not
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rebut the credible testinmony of the inspectors with respect to the cited
condi tions which they personally observed at the tine the violation was
i ssued.

After careful consideration of all of the testinmony and evidence in this
case, | conclude and find that the credible testinony of the inspectors, as
corroborated by M. Nine, clearly establishes the existence of the cited
conditions and reasonably supports |Inspector Wrkley's conclusion that the
cited belt tailpiece was not maintained in a safe operating condition as
required by the cited section 75.1725(a). Accordingly, the cited violation IS
AFF| RVED.

Significant and Substantial Violations

A "significant and substantial" violation is described in section
104(d) (1) of the Mne Act as a violation "of such nature as could
significantly and substantially contribute to the cause and effect of a coa
or other mne safety or health hazard." 30 C.F.R 0 814(d)(1). A violation
is properly designated significant and substantial "if, based upon the
particul ar facts surrounding the violation there exists a reasonable
i kelihood that the hazard contributed to will result in an injury or illness
of a reasonably serious nature."” Cenent Division, National Gypsum Co., 3
FMSHRC 822, 825 (April 1981).

In Mathies Coal Co., 6 FMSHRC 1, 3-4 (January 1984), the Com ssion
explained its interpretation of the term"significant and substantial" as
foll ows:

In order to establish that a violation of a mandatory safety
standard is significant and substantial under National Gypsumthe
Secretary of Labor nust prove: (1) the underlying violation of a
mandatory safety standard; (2) a discrete safety hazard--that is,
a neasure of danger to safety-contributed to by the violation; (3)

a reasonabl e |likelihood that the hazard contributed to will result
in an injury; and (4) a reasonable likelihood that the injury in
guestion will be of a reasonably serious nature.

In United States Steel M ning Conpany, Inc., 7 FMSHRC 1125, 1129, the
Commi ssion stated further as follows:

We have explained further that the third el enent of the
Mat hi es formula "requires that the Secretary establish a
reasonabl e |ikelihood that the hazard contributed to will result
in an event in which there is an injury." U S. Steel Mning Co.,
6 FMSHRC 1834, 1836 (August 1984). W have enphasized that, in
accordance with the | anguage of section 104(d)(1), it
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is the contribution of a violation to the cause and effect of a
hazard that must be significant and substantial. U.S. Stee
M ni ng Conpany, Inc., 6 FMSHRC 1866, 1868 (August 1984); U.S.
Steel M ning Conpany, Inc., 6 FMSHRC 1573, 1574-75 (July 1984).

The question of whether any particular violation is significant and
substantial nust be based on the particular facts surrounding the violation
i ncludi ng the nature of the m ne involved, Secretary of Labor v. Texasgulf,
Inc., 10 FMSHRC 498 (April 1988); Youghi ogheny & Ohio Coal Conpany, 9 FMSHRC
2007 (Decenber 1987). Further, any determ nation of the significant nature of
a violation nust be made in the context of continued normal mining operations.
Nat i onal Gypsum 3 FMSHRC 327, 329 (March). Hal fway, I|ncorporated, 8 FMSHRC
8, (January 1986).

Citing Secretary of Labor v. Texasgulf, Inc., 10 FMSHRC 501 (Apri
1988), the contestant asserts that in order to determine the reasonable
i kelihood of a conmbustion hazard resulting in an ignition or explosion there

must be a "confluence of factors" to create a likelihood of ignition. 1In the
i nstant case, the contestant argues that the violation was not significant and
substanti al because an ignition was unlikely. [In support of this conclusion

the contestant asserts that (1) an adequate fire suppression and fire
detection systemwas installed and in working order, (2) the area was wet, (3)
there was no snell of combustion, and no electrical hazards or hot rollers,
(4) any float dust in the area was mninmal and did not represent a hazardous
accurul ati on and (5) the lack of damage to the belt represents clear and

convi nci ng evidence that the belt was not in contact with the bracket while it
was in operation.

In support of the inspector's "S&S" finding, the respondent argues that
a violation of section 75.1725(a) has been established and that the failure to
mai ntain the cited tail piece in a safe operating condition and free of hazards
presented a discreet fire hazard that exposed nmner's to serious injuries.

The respondent further argues that the failure of the contestant to
mai ntain the tail piece would have resulted in a fire, and miners would have
been injured had normal mning operations continued. Citing the testinmony of
I nspectors Ash and Workl ey that the float dust accurul ati ons on the tail piece
frame existed for 10 to 12 hours and that the accunul ations inside the
tail pi ece existed for a prolonged period of shifts, days or weeks and were not
docunented in the last preshift or onshift exanms, the respondent concl udes
that it was highly unlikely that the accunul ati ons woul d have been renoved any
ti me soon.

The respondent also relies on the fact that a preshift exam ner would
not normally | ook inside the tailpiece to examne the belt or rollers, and he
cites the adm ssion of the belt



~2547

foreman that he keeps no record of when he has |ast examined the tail pi ece and
has no set exam nation schedule, and the m ne superintendent's testinony that
given the renmote | ocation of the tailpiece, it could have been m ssed during a
beltline exam nation. The respondent concludes that given the failure of
preshift exami ners to discover the unsafe condition of the tailpiece and the

| ack of a set plan for examning the tailpiece, it is not likely that the
conditions woul d have been corrected before an acci dent occurred.

The respondent further argues that the coal dust accumnul ations inside
the tail piece and on the frame were dry and conmbustible and that there was
sufficient air to accommpdate a fire. The respondent cites the testinony of
the inspectors that the belt has running in coal dust accunul ations, causing
friction that could likely result in a fire, and that the belt was not aligned
and was wearing away at steel brackets on the right side of the tail piece
where I nspector Workley noted the greater amobunt of float coal dust. The
respondent points out that both inspectors were of the opinion that given the
conditions which they observed, it was reasonably likely that a fire wold
occur.

Finally, the respondent asserts that |nspector Workley's belief that if
a fire occurred, it was reasonably likely that there would be an injury of a
reasonably serious nature, specifically snoke inhalation or snoke, stands
uncont r adi ct ed.

| have considered the fact that the workable fire detection and
suppression systens were installed along the belt line. However, Inspector
Workl ey testified that the sensor was in the "general area" of the tail piece
and that a C.O nmonitor was |ocated "some di stance" fromthe tail piece (Tr
28). M. Straface testified that the fire suppression systemwas | ocated at
the Five-S transfer area (Tr. 125). Further, even though these systens were
provi ded, they did not prevent the prior two belt fires that occurred at belt
tail pieces (Tr. 46-47). |Indeed, the tailpiece fire that occurred on the
i medi ate shift prior to the inspection by M. Wrkley was not put out by any
supressi on system A foreman was di spatched to the area, and he used a fire
extingui sher to wet down the snoldering roller bearing that had overheated.

Al t hough the inspector conceded that there was no snmell of conbustion
he nonetheless testified credibly that the three ingredi ents necessary for a
fire were present, nanely, adequate air, fuel, and an ignition source (Tr.
26). He found that the belt was running and was in contact with the netal
brackets, producing frictional heat, and that the belt was in contact with the
fine coal accunulations inside the tailpiece (Tr. 24). He also indicated that
had he snel |l ed conbustion, he woul d have concl uded that the belt was actually
on fire and woul d have issued an inm nent danger wi thdrawal order (Tr. 59-60).
Under
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all of these circunstances, the fact that there was no actual snell of
conbustion does not detract fromthe inspector's "S&S" finding.

VWiile it may be true that there were no electrical hazards or hot
rollers, Inspector Ash testified credibly that heat was bei ng generated around
the tail piece area where the belt was rubbing the nmetal roller bracket because
there was dry coal in that area and the rest of the coal was danmp (Tr. 101).
M. Ash also testified credibly that there were frictional ignition sources
present at the tailpiece, nanely the belt rubbing on the netal bracket and the
rollers that were inpacted and frozen in the coal accunul ations. He also
indicated fromhis |ong experience that belts rubbing belt stands and neta
brackets produce heat quickly (Tr. 106).

Belt foreman Chernok admitted that a roller turning in fine, black dry
coal dust is an unsafe condition because of the possibility of heat and
combustion (Tr. 221). He also agreed that a belt riding on steel bracket
coul d generate heat (Tr. 221). Safety escort Thonmas confirmed that after the
belt was shut down, he bent the bare netal bracket back "so it wouldn't touch
the belt"(Tr. 238).

The contestant's conclusion that the | ack of belt damage represents
cl ear and convinci ng evidence that the belt was not in contact with the
bracket while it was in operation is rejected. Although the brackets in
guestion were not visible while the belt was in operation with the tail piece
guards in the closed position, there is anple credible evidence that |ead ne
conclude that the brackets were contacting the belt while it was running.

I nspector Workley testified that after the belt was stopped he observed
that it was resting on portions of the belt frame and that the franme was worn
away by friction caused by the belt rubbing the frame (Tr. 49). He also saw
that the belt was wearing away at the nissing brackets which had worn down
approximately an inch fromthe top, and that this wear was on the right side
of the tailpiece where there was a greater concentration of float coal dust
(Tr. 22).

M. Nine confirnmed that the belt had rubbed the roller brackets, and
that it was worn down and running off to one side (Tr. 70-71). He also
confirmed that there were two prior tailpiece belt fires during the past year
(Tr. 71). Inspector Ash believed that the wear on the brackets was ongoi ng
(Tr. 99).

The contestant's suggestion that the tail piece area was so wet as to
render it harmess is rejected. As noted earlier, contestant's w tnesses
Straface, Canpbell, and Chernok did not observe the tail piece conditions at
the tinme the inspectors observed them and ordered the belt shut down.

Al t hough safety
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escort Thomas arrived just ahead of the inspectors, he picked up a water hose
and began washing the area down. As indicated earlier, | have found the
testinmony of the inspectors and M. Nine with respect to the existence of the
dry float coal dust and coal accunulations inside the tailpiece to be nore
credi ble than the testinony of M. Thomas.

After careful consideration of all of the evidence and argunents
presented in this case, | conclude and find that the respondent has the better
part of the argunment and has established by a preponderance of the credible
evi dence that the violation was significant and substantial (S&S).

I have concluded that a violation of section 75.1725(a), has been
established. | further conclude and find that the cited tail piece conditions
presented a discrete hazard of a potential belt fire and that in the normal
course of continued mning at the time the inspector observed the cited
conditions it was reasonably likely that an ignition would have occurred as
the dry, black, conbustible coal dust and float coal dust continued to
accurul ate and turn in the tail piece that was plugged with fine coal and coa
dust, and as the belt continued to run out of alignment and rub on the missing
roller brackets in question. | further conclude and find that a tail piece
belt fire was reasonably likely to occur as a result of the ignition, and that
it was reasonably likely that the m ners on the working sections would suffer
snmoke inhal ation, and possibly other fire related injuries of a reasonably
serious nature. Accordingly, | conclude and find that the violation was
signi ficant and substantial (S&S), and the inspector's finding in this regard
| S AFFI RMVED.

Unwarrant abl e Failure Viol ation

The governing definition of unwarrantable failure was explained in
Zei gl er Coal Conpany, 7 IBMA 280 (1977), decided under the 1969 Act, and it
held in pertinent part as follows at 295-96:

In light of the foregoing, we hold that an inspector should
find that a violation of any mandatory standard was caused by an
unwarrantable failure to conply with such standard if he
deternmines that the operator involved has failed to abate the
conditions or practices constituting such violation, conditions or
practices the operator knew or should have known existed or which
it failed to abate because of a |lack of due diligence, or because
of indifference or |ack of reasonable care.

In several decisions concerning the interpretation and application of
the term"unwarrantable failure," the Comm ssion further refined and expl ai ned
this term and concluded that it
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means "aggravated conduct, constituting nore than ordinary negligence, by a
m ne operator in relation to a violation of the Act." Energy M ning
Corporation, 9 FMSHRC 1997 (Decenber 1987); Youghi ogheny & Chi o Coal Conpany,
9 FMSHRC 2007 (Decenber 1987); Secretary of Labor v. Rushton M ning Conpany,
10 FMSHRC 249 (March 1988). Referring to its prior holding in the Enmery

M ning case, the Conm ssion stated as follows in Youghi ogheny & Chio, at 9
FMSHRC 2010:

W stated that whereas negligence is conduct that is
"inadvertent," "thoughtless" or "inattentive," unwarrantable
conduct is conduct that is described as "not justifiable" or
"inexcusable.”™ Only by construing unwarrantable failure by a m ne
operator as aggravated conduct constituting nore that ordinary
negl i gence, do unwarrantable failure sanctions assune their
i ntended distinct place in the Act's enforcenent schene.

In Enery M ning, the Conmi ssion explained the neaning of the phrase
"unwarrantable failure" as follows at 9 FMSHRC 2001

We first deternmine the ordinary meani ng of the phrase

"unwarrantable failure.” "Unwarrantable" is defined as "not
justifiable" or "inexcusable.”" "Failure" is defined as "negl ect
of an assigned, expected, or appropriate action." Wbster's Third

New I nternational Dictionary (Unabridged) 2514, 814 (1971)
("Webster's"). Conparatively, negligence is the failure to use
such care as a reasonably prudent and careful person would use and
is characterized by "inadvertence," "thoughtl essness," and
"inattention." Black's Law Dictionary 930-31 (5th ed. 1979).
Conduct that is not justifiable and i nexcusable is the result of
nore than inadvertence, thoughtlessness, or inattention. * * *

The contestant asserts that Inspector Workley's unwarrantable failure
finding is materially flawed because m ne exanm ner Canpbell had nade a specia
exam nation of the 6 South tailpiece within one-half hour of the alarm
soundi ng because of the hot roller at the 6 North tail piece and the inspector
conceded that if he had known about this exam nation he probably woul d not
have found an unwarrantabl e violation

The contestant further argues that designating the violation as
unwar rant abl e was al so inappropriate in light of: (1) the fact that the
i nspector did not require many of the conditions addressed in the violation
(i.e., mssing and stuck inpact rollers) to be corrected prior to putting the
tail pi ece back into service, (2) the credible evidence that the other
conditions cited by the Inspector could have occurred after the | ast
exam nation of the tail piece and (3) the credible testinony that
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the m ne had a mai ntenance programthat, as a rule, kept the six tail pieces
installed at the mine in safe operating condition. Exanmi ned as a whole, the
contestant concludes that these factors clearly establish that it was not
indifferent to the hazards associated with the operation of the tail piece.

The respondent asserts that the evidence fully supports the inspector's
unwarrantable failure finding. The respondent argues that given the existence
of the cloud of float coal dust over the tailpiece, the amount of float dust
accurrul ations on the tail piece frane, and the |ack of any evidence of a spill
it was clear that there was an obvious problemw th the tail pi ece that should
have been explored by the preshift exani ner

The respondent further argues that the coal dust accunul ations inside
the tail piece and the wearing down of the bracket by the belt support
I nspector Workley's belief that the accumul ati ons and belt wearing conditions
exi sted over a prolonged period of shifts, days, weeks, or nonths.

The respondent points out that Inspector Workley found that no
mai nt enance had been done on the tailpiece for a long tinme, and the belt
exam ner could not state when he | ast exanm ned the tail piece, and adnmitted
that he kept no tail pi ece mai ntenance records. He also admitted that there
was no set schedule for exam ning belts, and the m ne superintendent testified
that the isolated |ocation of the tailpiece nade it possible that it was
m ssed duri ng nmai ntenance checks.

Finally, the respondent argues that while there is testinony that the
cited tailpiece roller was checked following the fire at the 6 North belt
prior to the inspection of May 5, 1994, it is unclear whether Inspector
Wor kl ey woul d have concl uded that the violation was unwarrantable if he knew
that the cited tail pi ece was checked to determ ne the condition of the tai
roller. Although the respondent asserts that M. Wirkley testified that he
"was informed that no one checked the tail piece," the transcript record
reflects that M. Workley testified that no one told himthat anyone had
checked the cited tailpiece after the prior incident at the 6 North tail piece
(Tr. 252). In any event, the respondent concludes that the remraining evidence
supports a finding that the failure by the contestant to maintain the
tail piece rises to a level of aggravated conduct.

I nspect or Workl ey, whose 20 years of experience included 8 years of
underground mning and work as a mine foreman, testified credibly that the
coal accunul ations that he found inside the tail piece, and the float coal dust
in the area, had accunul ated over a prolonged period of time. He also
testified credibly that the worn tailpiece roller and bracket conditions and
the | ack of nmintenance that he observed occurred over a period of multiple
shifts and weeks.
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Supervi sing | nspector Ash, who had 46 years of m ning experience,
including 21 years as a mine superintendent and foreman, was in tota
agreement with M. Workley's unwarrantable failure finding, and he testified
credibly that the coal accunulation inside the tailpiece and the wormroller
bracket conditions were very slow processes that woul d have taken place over
several nonths.

The contestant's argument that Inspector Workley's unwarrantable failure
finding is materially flawed because he conceded that if he had known that M.
Campbel | had preshifted the tail piece on May 5, he probably woul d not have
made that finding is rejected. M. Wrkley's testinony nust be taken in
context. M. Workley further testified that had he al so known that M.
Canpbell only | ooked at the rear tailpiece roller and did not exam ne the rest
of the tailpiece, it wuld not have changed his unwarrantable failure opinion

Preshi ft exam ner Canpbell, who confirned that he sonetines conducts
preshi ft exami nations as a "fill-in," as needed, in my view performed a rather
cursory exam nation of the cited tail piece. M. Canpbell confirned that he
did not examine the inside of the tail piece because the belt was running and
he observed no hazardous conditions, and had no reason to examine the inside
of the tailpiece. However, he further stated that the exam nation of the
i nside of the tailpiece was not his job and that this task was assigned to the
belt foreman. Under the circunstances, it would appear to me that even if M.
Canpbel | had some reason to examine the inside of the tailpiece, by his own
adm ssion he would not have done so because it was not his job. G ven the
fact that there was a hot roller and belt fire problemw th another tail piece
on the shift prior to Inspector Wrkley's inspection, | would expect a
reasonably prudent preshift exam ner to ensure that the cited tail pi ece was
t horoughl y exam ned, inside and outside, even if he had to shut the belt down
to do so. If M. Canmpbell had done so, he would have found the conditions
t hat conpany safety inspector Thomas characterized as "bad."

Belt foreman Chernok, who was responsible for the large rollers and
bearings at the back of the tailpiece, and the guarding and inside rollers,
testified that "I try to get themonce a week. Sonetines it's a little nore
than a week that | finally get to all of them" M. chernok could not recal
when he | ast examined the tailpiece prior to M. Wrkley's inspection, and he
kept no tail piece mai ntenance records. He also testified that he exami nes the
tail piece "at |east every other week, maybe not weekly." He agreed that the
cited tail piece conditions could have occurred a week or a week and a hal f
prior to his last exam nation. Since M. Chernok could not recall when he | ast
exam ned the tail pi ece, and nmaintained no records, this testinony
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gives little support to the contestant's unwarrantable failure position. As a
matter of fact, it |ends support to the respondent's position that little or
no attention was given to this particular tailpiece.

M ne superintendent Straface confirmed that the cited tail piece had not
been used as an active section coal production tail piece since Decenber, 1992,
and that the belt |ine had not been in operation for 5 or 6 nonths during a
strike. Gven the fact that the tailpiece was in a rather isolated nine area
and had not been used on a regular basis as part of the active coal production
cycle, | believe one can reasonably conclude fromthe condition of the
tail piece, as testified to credibly by Inspectors Wrkley and Ash, and m ners
representative Nine, that the cited tail piece was not given nuch if any
attention, and that no one ever took the initiative to open the guarding lids
to exam ne the inside of the tailpiece, particularly during the tinme
i medi ately after the tailpiece fire incident on the 5 North belt, and
i medi ately before the inspection by M. Wrkley. Indeed, M. Straface agreed
that it was possible that someone forgot to open up the tail piece and exam ne
the inside before the inspector cited it. Wen asked fromthe bench if anyone
would likely admit that they failed to exam ne the tail piece thoroughly, M.
Straface did not respond.

After careful review and consideration of all of the testinmny and

evi dence adduced in this case, | conclude and find that the credible testinony
of the respondent's wi tnesses supports the unwarrantable failure finding nade
by the inspector. | conclude and find that the failure of the contestant,

over a protracted period of tine, to clean up and renmove the float coal dust
on the outside of the cited tailpiece and the coal accunul ati ons inside the
tail piece, and to thoroughly inspect the inside of the tail piece and take
corrective action to remedy the frozen rollers and the netal roller bracket
that was rubbing the belt, particularly in viewof a fire on a simlar

tail piece on the shift immediately prior to the inspection of May 5, 1994,
constituted sufficient "aggravated conduct” to support the inspector's
unwarrantabl e failure finding. Accordingly, the inspector's finding IS

AFF| RVED.
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ORDER

Based on the foregoing findings and conclusions, the contested section
104(d) (1) "S&S" Citation No. 3318787, May 5, 1994, citing a violation of 30
C.F.R 0O 75.1725(a), IS AFFIRMED as issued, and the Notice of Contest filed by
the contestant IS DENI ED and DI SM SSED.

Ceorge A. Koutras
Adm ni strative Law Judge

Di stri bution:

El i zabeth S. Chanberlin, Esqg., Consolidation Coal Conpany, 1800 Washi ngton
Road, Pittsburgh, PA 15241 (Certified Mil)

El i zabeth Lopes, Esq., Ofice of the Solicitor, U S. Departnment of Labor,
4015 W/ son Boul evard, Suite 516, Arlington, VA 22203 (Certified Mil)
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